School of Electronics and Computer Science Faculty of Physical Sciences and Engineering University of Southampton



Jakub J. Dylag May 2<sup>nd</sup> 2022

# Machine Learning based prediction of Glucose Levels in Type 1 Diabetes Patients with the use of Continuous Glucose Monitoring Data.

Project supervisor: Dr Nicholas Gibbins Second examiner: Prof Koushik Maharatna

A project progress report submitted for the award of MEng Computer Science with Artificial Intelligence

# Abstract

A task of vital clinical importance, within Diabetes management, is the prevention of hypo/hyperglycemic events. Increasingly adopted Continuous Glucose Monitoring (CGM) devices offer detailed, non-intrusive and real time insights into a patient's blood glucose concentrations. Leveraging advanced Machine Learning (ML) Models as methods of prediction of future glucose levels, gives rise to substantial quality of life improvements, as well as providing a vital tool for monitoring diabetes.

A regression based prediction approach is implemented recursively, with a series of Machine Learning Models: Linear Regression, Hidden Markov Model, Long-Short Term Memory Network. By exploiting a patient's past 11 hours of blood glucose (BG) concentration measurements, a prediction of the 60 minutes is made. Results will be assessed using performance metrics including: Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE), normalised energy of the second-order differences (ESOD) and F<sub>1</sub> score.

Research of past and current approaches, as well as available dataset, led to the establishment of an optimal training methodology for the CITY dataset, which may be leveraged by future model development. Performance was aligned with similar state-of-art ML models, with LSTM having RMSE of 28.55, however no significant advantage was observed over classical Auto-regressive AR models. Compelling insights into LSTM prediction behaviour could increase public and legislative trust and understanding, progressing the certification of ML models in Artificial Pancreas Systems (APS).

# Statement of Originality

- I have read and understood the ECS Academic Integrity information and the University's Academic Integrity Guidance for Students.
- I am aware that failure to act in accordance with the Regulations Governing Academic Integrity may lead to the imposition of penalties which, for the most serious cases, may include termination of programme.
- I consent to the University copying and distributing any or all of my work in any form and using third parties (who may be based outside the EU/EEA) to verify whether my work contains plagiarised material, and for quality assurance purposes.

We expect you to acknowledge all sources of information (e.g. ideas, algorithms, data) using citations. You must also put quotation marks around any sections of text that you have copied without paraphrasing. If any figures or tables have been taken or modified from another source, you must explain this in the caption and cite the original source.

#### I have acknowledged all sources, and identified any content taken from elsewhere.

If you have used any code (e.g. open-source code), reference designs, or similar resources that have been produced by anyone else, you must list them in the box below. In the report, you must explain what was used and how it relates to the work you have done.

#### I have used Python, Jupyter Notebooks, PyTorch, hmmlearn, Scikit-learn, Numpy, Pandas, Matplotlib, Seaborn, Pickle. CITY dataset, published by Jaeb Center for Health Research.

You can consult with module teaching staff/demonstrators, but you should not show anyone else your work (this includes uploading your work to publicly-accessible repositories e.g. Github, unless expressly permitted by the module leader), or help them to do theirs. For individual assignments, we expect you to work on your own. For group assignments, we expect that you work only with your allocated group. You must get permission in writing from the module teaching staff before you seek outside assistance, e.g. a proofreading service, and declare it here.

#### I did all the work myself, or with my allocated group, and have not helped anyone else.

We expect that you have not fabricated, modified or distorted any data, evidence, references, experimental results, or other material used or presented in the report. You must clearly describe your experiments and how the results were obtained, and include all data, source code and/or designs (either in the report, or submitted as a separate file) so that your results could be reproduced.

#### The material in the report is genuine, and I have included all my data/code/designs.

We expect that you have not previously submitted any part of this work for another assessment. You must get permission in writing from the module teaching staff before re-using any of your previously submitted work for this assessment.

#### I have not submitted any part of this work for another assessment.

If your work involved research/studies (including surveys) on human participants, their cells or data, or on animals, you must have been granted ethical approval before the work was carried out, and any experiments must have followed these requirements. You must give details of this in the report, and list the ethical approval reference number(s) in the box below.

#### My work did not involve human participants, their cells or data, or animals.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr Nicholas Gibins for supervising this project and mentoring me throughout. His continuous guidance, support and feedback were invaluable and allowed me to achieve this project. Many thanks to Prof Koushik Maharatna for examining my project and providing insightful suggestions.

Utmost thanks to Prof. Michael Boniface, Dr. Chris Duckworth and the rest of the team at the IT Innovation Centre, for the experience gained during my Summer Internship, which I found essential during this project.

Last but not the least, my parents for their patience and encouragement.

# Contents

Abstract	2
Statement of Originality	3
Acknowledgements	4
Contents	5
Nomenclature	6
1 Introduction	7
2 Literature Review	8
2.1 Diabetes	8
2.2 Past Approaches	10
2.3 Current Approaches	10
2.4 Machine Learning	12
2.4.1 Hidden Markov Models	12
2.4.2 Long-Short Term Memory	12
2.5 Model Explainability	15
3 Methodology	16
3.1 Data Acquisition	16
3.2 Data Analysis	17
3.2.1 Patient Cohort	17
3.2.2 CGM Measurements	18
3.2.3 Statistical Methods	19
3.3 Clustering	20
3.4 Design Methodology	22
4 Implementation	23
4.1 Data Preparation	23
4.2 HMM	24
4.3 LSTM	25
4.3.2 Hyper parameter Tuning	26
5 Evaluation	28
5.1 Evaluation methodology	28
5.2 Training Comparison	29
5.3 Results	30
5.4 Model Comparison	31
5.5 Explainability	32
5.6 Limitations	33
6 Conclusions and Future work	34
6.1 Project Management	34
6.2 Conclusions	34
6.3 Future Work	35
References	36
Appendices	52
Appendix A: Project Brief	44
Appendix B: Planned Gantt Chart Brief	45
Appendix C: Actual Event Gantt Chart	46

### Nomenclature

AI - Artificial Intelligence **APS - Artificial Pancreas Systems** AR - Autoregressive BG - Blood glucose BMI - Body Mass Index CF - Correction factor CGM - Continuous Glucose Monitoring CITY - CGM Intervention in Teens and Young Adults with Type 1 Diabetes CR - Carbohydrate-to-insulin ratio EM - Expectation-Maximisation Algorithm ESOD - Energy of Second Order Difference GMM - Gaussian Mixture Modelling **GRU** - Gated Recurrent Unit HMM - Hidden Markov Models HbA1c - Haemoglobin A1c test LIME - Local Interpretable Model-agnostic Explanations LRP - Layer-wise relevance propagation LSTM - Long Short-Term Memory ML - Machine Learning MSE - Mean Square Error PH - Prediction horizon PMCC - Product Moment Correlation Coefficient RMSE - Root Mean Square Error **RNN - Recurrent Neural Networks** S.D. - Standard Deviation SHAP - Shapley Additive Explanations

T1D - Type 1 Diabetes

# 1 Introduction

Artificial Intelligence has made large advances in preventive medicine and management of chronic conditions, such as Diabetes. The symptoms of this chronic, metabolic disease include unregulated blood glucose (BG) levels and hyperglycaemic events, which over time can lead to irreversible damage to the heart, kidneys, blood vessels, eyes and nerves.

Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) Patients must use external insulin, with effective management requiring optimal doses of insulin, through injection or infusion, multiple times per day. Current technologies have found success in minimising risk of long-term complications, however can also pose a significant burden on self-managing patients, reducing quality of life.

Recent growth in digital disease management platforms and an increased use of diabetes-related data sensors, such as Continuous Glucose Monitoring (CGM), have resulted in rapid evolution towards Autonomous Diabetes Systems, which implement Machine Learning (ML) approaches to predict future glucose levels, detect hyperglycaemic events, assist with decision making and risk stratification for T1D patients.

The implementation of leading Neural Network based ML models could advance prediction accuracy and provide more personalised predictions. This leads to the opportunity to explain model predictions and justify conclusions reached, crucial for medical use.

# 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1 Diabetes

Diabetes Mellitus affects the pancreas' ability to regulate insulin. The condition is categorised into different forms dependant on the cause: Prediabetes, Type 1 Diabetes, Type 2 Diabetes, Gestational Diabetes [4]. The International Diabetes Foundation estimates there are over 463 million diabetics worldwide, with projected increases to 578 million by 2030 [3]. The Insulin hormone is responsible for intake of glucose into muscles, effectively decreasing BG levels. When digesting carbohydrates, glucose is introduced to the bloodstream, risking excessively high levels (hyperglycemia). A bolus of insulin may need to be taken to reduce glucose levels, or before performing exercise.

T1D is an autoimmune condition thought to be caused by the destruction of insulin-producing beta type cells [2] by the immune system. Symptoms of marked hyperglycemia include polyuria (excessive urination), polydipsia (extreme thirst), weight loss, sometimes with polyphagia (extreme hunger), ketonemia and blurred vision [5]. Hood and Colleagues [6] also indicated increased risk of elevated depression symptoms in children and adolescents. Although the condition can appear at any age, it is most common to appear around the ages of 4-7 and 10-14 [1]. Historically, T1D diagnosis has included fasting BG levels higher than 126 mg/dL or any measurement of 200 mg/dL. Diagnosis can also be made with a HbA1c (average BG concentration over past 3 months) value over 864 mg/dL mmol/mol [2]. Despite more recent efforts to standardise diagnosis, causes and typology remain unclear among adults [2].

Although patients who self-monitor BG levels can see long-term benefits, limitations such as inconvenience, poor adherence to frequent measurements and financial costs of disposables may result in erroneous readings [7] and therefore inaccurate predictions. Recent advances in sensor technology enabled CGM devices to be developed. CGM devices greatly reduce feelings of burden and of inconvenience [10]. These sensors are minimally invasive, using a single electrode needle and perform readings every 1-5 minutes for consecutive days or weeks [9].

Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation [8] demonstrated reductions in nocturnal hypoglycaemia in children and adolescents when using CGM compared to self-monitoring. The increasing amount of frequent data is causing the decision-making process to become more complex. Current research is focused on developing algorithms to simplify this process and progressively automate in the future. Prototypes of closed loop Artificial Pancreas Systems (APS) [11] are being investigated by the open source community, which integrate CGM devices with Automatic Insulin Injection, enabling fully automated therapy with no input from the patient or medical staff.

The range of Autonomous Disease Management systems has been classified by Bitterman and colleagues [22] into a set of 5 levels of autonomy, each with specific risk management and legal liability, as presented in Figure 1 below.

Assistive AI algorithms		Autonomous Al algorithms			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
	Data presentation	Clinical decision-support	Conditional automation	High automation	Full automation
Event monitoring	AI	AI	AI	AI	AI
Response execution	Clinician	Clinician and AI	AI	AI	AI
Fallback	Not applicable	Clinician	AI, with a backup clinician available at AI request	AI	AI
Domain, system, and population specificity	Low	Low	Low	Low	High
Liability	Clinician	Clinician	Case dependent	AI developer	AI developer
Example	Al analyses mammogram and highlights high-risk regions	Al analyses mammogram and provides risk score that is interpreted by clinician	Al analyses mammogram and makes recommendation for biopsy, with a clinician always available as backup	Al analyses mammogram and makes biopsy recommendation, without a clinician available as backup	Same as level 4, but intended for use in all populations and systems

Figure 1: levels of autonomy [22]

CGM devices alone are limited to data presentation functionality, however with addition of predictive algorithms are classified as level 3. Future APS will have higher or full degrees of automation, introducing legal responsibility for the AI developers.

### 2.2 Past Approaches

Early Decision Support Systems are designed to help medical professionals in retrospective analysis of patient's data. Centralised Telemedicine services were enabled by remote communication, through integrations of Web and Telephone access, between Patient Units and central Patient Management Units [13, 14]. This allowed for the implementation of empirical mathematical models that calculate the new dose of the medication required to achieve therapeutic goals [15].

A standard T1D therapy includes the use of a Bolus Calculator to calculate the dose of insulin bolus required using the equation:

$$B = \frac{CHO}{CR} + \frac{G_c - G_T}{CF} - PS \times IOB$$
  
Equation 1: Bolus Calculator [12]

The first part of the formula is concerned with finding the meal boluses required to offset ingested carbohydrates during the meal. This is calculated as the ratio between carbohydrate intake (CHO) and carbohydrate-to-insulin ratio (CR), a parameter specific to each patient.

Next the correction insulin dose to alter BG concentrations to the target level is calculated dividing the difference between measured concentration ( $G_c$ ) and the target concentration ( $G_T$ ), by the correction factor (CF).

Finally, to avoid insulin stacking from the previous injection subtraction of the Insulin on Board (IOB) is necessary. The multiplier physiological state (PS) can be introduced to increase accuracy. PS is <1 when insulin sensitivity is increased, for example during exercise and PS >1 when sensitivity is decreased, for example during illness [<u>16</u>].

Despite standardisation and the success of these empirical approaches, prediction accuracy is limited by the high degree of generalisation.

### 2.3 Current Approaches

Within this section more complex and personalised methods of glucose management will be investigated.

Adaptive Tuning of Bolus Calculator Parameters could better personalise therapy and automate periodic adjustments by clinicians, reducing the cost of care. Herrero and colleagues [17] automatically adjusted the CR and CF parameters everyday in a run-to-run methodology based on CGM data. Although results on simulated data were promising, with significant reductions in time spent in hypoglycaemia, a fundamental flaw exists in the assumption of repetitive BG levels. Many factors such as exercise, hormone cycle, alcohol, stress, mental illness and others, can dramatically affect glucose levels and are not accounted for.

With the addition of case-based reasoning to the run-to-run methodology situational context can be comprehended by the algorithm. Successful recent approaches from Sun and colleagues [18] incorporate reinforcement learning and produced encouraging results on virtualized data by personalising parameters for better glycemic control even in extreme scenarios. However this has not been thoroughly tested with real CGM data.

CGM devices not only allow for detection of hypo/hyperglycemic events, but also permits prediction. There are two main approaches in the literature. Firstly, viewing it as a regression problem and predicting the values of BG concentration into the future until a prediction horizon (PH). Secondly, forecasting the occurrence of future hypo/hyperglycemic events [9].

Another distinction can be made on the origin of training data. Some algorithms only use CGM data while others implement external input for meal content and amount of injected insulin, which have been shown to enhance predictions [20]. Furthermore, given the limited amount of CGM data, some studies use simulated data (in silico trial) from the widely used UVA/PADOVA simulator [21].

Population algorithms are standardised and reused throughout the whole population. Although this approach can leverage large CGM datasets and reduce development time, by only needing to train a single model, predictions are not personalised to the patient. By contrast, subject-specific algorithms which orchestrate various specialised models to produce a combined prediction, account for the variability between individual's characteristics [19].

Prediction of glucose concentration models have a limited PH under 60 minutes. This allows for the patient to be alerted up to 60 minutes before the glucose concentrations become too high/low. As presented in Figure 2 below, predictions enable patients to pre-emptively digest carbohydrates or inject insulin prior to surpassing dangerous thresholds, minimising the time spent hyper/hypoglycemic.



Figure 2: predictions made on nocturnal CGM series plot [9]

Event prediction models reduce prediction difficulty by only forecasting the time of occurrence without the exact glucose concentration levels. This simplification enables a larger PH between 2-3 hours, giving the ability for the patient to identify postprandial hypoglycaemia at the time of eating, allowing the patient to not have to eat extra carbohydrates, managing their weight and promoting a healthier lifestyle.

### 2.4 Machine Learning

The most recent CGM sensors [23] adopt simple prediction algorithms such as linear extrapolation 15–30 min in advance and generating alerts if a hypo/hyperglycemic threshold is predicted to be surpassed [24]. Accuracy can be further improved by utilising LASSO (L1) regularisation [29].

Autoregressive (AR) models capture the signal's frequency information and are invariant to the signal's phase and amplitude [25]. AR is a popular approach for both Adaptive Tuning of Bolus Calculator Parameters, as well as regression like glucose level prediction. The simplified parameters allow for detailed interpretations, in contrast to more complex models described below.

#### 2.4.1 Hidden Markov Models

Hidden Markov Models (HMM) are an extension of the Markov process [26] This state-space model in which latent variables represent discrete values, is considered to be a double Stochastic process, consisting of Hidden States that cannot be observed, in addition to a random sequence of observations dependent on previous states [39]. This property makes them capable of predicting and analysing any temporal sequence.

Defined by the number of Hidden states (N), as well as number of observation symbols per state (M). Model parameters dictate the state transitions and are estimated by a special case of Expectation-Maximisation (EM) Algorithm, known as the Baum-Welch algorithm [40]. Of note is that this algorithm is a gradient-based optimization method, which is vulnerable to stagnation in local maximas [41]. Other recent approaches implement both supervised and unsupervised training of HMM.

The Veterbi algorithm is most commonly used to infer optimal hidden states, hence predicting the next time step. A decoder is also necessary to map the state-space of discrete random variables to an comprehensible output value. By increasing the number of hidden states output resolution is enhanced however at the expense of model complexity; leading to increased computation and data requirements.

HMM has been demonstrated to be optimal for small training sets (N < 1000) [26].

#### 2.4.2 Long-Short Term Memory

Introduced by Hochreiter and Schmidhuber in 1997 [45] Long-Short Term Memory (LSTM) networks are a leading accuracy in complex time series prediction tasks [28], by leveraging its capability to bridge long-term dependencies in excess of 1000 time steps [45].

LSTMs are well suited for temporal data and have shown advantages in Machine Translation [56], Speech recognition [57] and mortality prediction in Intensive Care Units, based on Electronic Healthcare Records [58].



Figure 3: Graphic illustration of LSTM cell [51]

LSTM cells hold 2 types of memory: short and long. Hidden States ( $h_t$ ) are used throughout Recurrent Neural Networks (RNN) to store immediate previous events and are constantly majorly altered by a series of gates. The internal Cell State stores long term dependencies, with only minor linear interactions throughout the forward pass [44]. This enhances RNN performance, which is inhibited by the vanishing gradient problem [53]. Both are represented as vectors of predefined size, with larger vectors increasing model complexity.

Both the cell and hidden states are fed back to the input of the cell, alongside the next time step and the calculations are repeated until the whole sequence is processed. Once the final time step is reached the terminal cell state is passed to a fully connected output layer, which subsequently produces the final output [43].

$$egin{aligned} &i_t = \sigma(W_{ii}x_t + b_{ii} + W_{hi}h_{t-1} + b_{hi}) \ f_t = \sigma(W_{if}x_t + b_{if} + W_{hf}h_{t-1} + b_{hf}) \ g_t = anh(W_{ig}x_t + b_{ig} + W_{hg}h_{t-1} + b_{hg}) \ o_t = \sigma(W_{io}x_t + b_{io} + W_{ho}h_{t-1} + b_{ho}) \ c_t = f_t \odot c_{t-1} + i_t \odot g_t \ h_t = o_t \odot anh(c_t) \end{aligned}$$

Equation 2: Formulaic definition of LSTM cell [46]

Of note is the forget gate ( $f_t$ ), which is a sigmoid layer selecting what information to discard from the cell state. The input ( $i_t$ ) and output ( $o_t$ ) gates transform the previous hidden state ( $h_{t-1}$ ), using a sigmoid activation function, to incorporate into cell state ( $C_t$ ) and output hidden state ( $h_t$ ) respectively.

LSTM flexible architecture offers a range of possible configurations. Bidirectional LSTM (BiLSTM) architecture is similar to vanilla LSTM, however the sequence is processed in both the forward and backwards direction, which requires the entire sequence to be available at once.



The Recurrent nature of LSTM enables the forwarding of the cell state, not only to the next cell, but also to a deep LSTM layer. These layers take the cell state from previous layers as input as opposed to the input data, which allows for increasing levels of abstractions to form.

With these increased capabilities, multiple parallel series can be effectively analysed, forming a single prediction. This can be utilised as a method of inputting static variables by creating a constant time series for each. However complexity will be increased, strengthening requirements for more layers and data to achieve sufficient accuracy.

Convolutional LSTMs (ConvLSTM) incorporate a one dimensional convolutional layer previous to the initial LSTM layer [54], in order to allow for deeper understanding. Renzhuo Wan et al. [55] has demonstrated ConvLSTM superiority in multivariate time series prediction over other attention models. Although BiLSTM has lowest RMSE in Sequence-to-Sequence prediction, ConvLSTM marginally improves upon it for individual models [42].

Other variants of LSTM include Gated Recurrent Unit (GRU) [59] and the addition of peephole connections [60]. GRUs simplify the LSTM architecture and reduce training cost by combining the input and output gates to form a single update gate. However LSTMs remain prevalent in most use cases.

A challenging problem with LSTM architecture most prevalent with stacked LSTMs, is overfitting. A solution to overcome this is the use of Drop Out layers in between LSTM layers for better generalisation, as seen in figure 4. This randomly discards node outputs, altering the following layers perspective and entices generalisation.

In contrast to HMM, LSTM harnesses greater accuracy using large datasets (N > 1000) [26]. However LSTM complexity is detrimental to prediction accuracy when using smaller datasets.

### 2.5 Model Explainability

Clinical practitioners and patients would like more granularity in alerts and to better understand the reasoning behind it. Excessive risk notifications could lead to alert fatigue, where patients or doctors become desensitised and are less likely to take necessary action.

Current algorithms, such as Shapley Additive Explanations (SHAP) and Local Interpretable Model-agnostic Explanations (LIME), focus on extracting feature importance. SHAP conditions on each feature, measuring change in prediction based on given changes in input feature [63]. LIME samples neighbouring nodes in the region of interest and approximates their behaviour with simpler surrogate functions [62]. Although demonstrating the importance of a feature is vital in large multi-feature Neural Networks, temporal datasets with limited features do not benefit from this approach. Instead it is crucial to survey event importance in order to extract meaning from time-series prediction algorithms.

A common approach is Layer-wise relevance propagation (LRP) [30], which interprets individual predictions in terms of input variables, by propagating the predictions backwards. This method. It has been used to provide for state-of-the-art models such as VGG-16 [30] and can be effectively applied to any Neural Neural or LSTM model. [31] When applied to LSTM networks, LRP procedures can be restricted to only utilise the necessary many-to-one weighted linear connections and two-to-one multiplicative interactions evident in LSTMs [61]. One primary problem with LRP is that it requires the definition of target classes, which is not suitable for continuous predictive models.

A specific method of analysing LSTM would be logging the forget gate, which controls the importance of the previous cell state (as demonstrated in <u>Section 2.4.2</u>). Research has shown that the forget gate is one of the most important gates in the LSTM, with forget-gate-only versions outperforming standard LSTM models on certain benchmark datasets [64]. Higher values of the forget gate vector indicate that the previous cell state needs to be remembered, as opposed to lower values that justify forgetting the previous cell [65]. By recording the state of the forget gate during each prediction at the inference stage, the importance of the previous cell state can be viewed as the importance of a single time step compared to the sequence as a whole.

# 3 Methodology

### 3.1 Data Acquisition

Identifying a suitable CGM T1D Dataset is vital to the success of this project. In addition to maximising the number of measurements, consistency within the dataset is essential. Minimal interruptions and gaps, minimise interpolation required, enhancing the quality of the data and true representation of trends. To add to that, a varied study cohort is required to ensure good representation of population and promote generalisation in the model.

Various Datasets [<u>32</u>, <u>33</u>, <u>66</u>, <u>67</u>] have been found, however due to the privacy restrictions in the UK/EU the search was limited to public datasets in the US.

Dataset	Patients	Age	Duration
Tamborlane 2008	451	8 >	6 months
Chase 2005	200	7-18	6 months
CITY 2019	153	14-25	22 months
Aleppo 2017	224	25-40	6 months
OhioT1DM 2020	12	20-60	2 months
Maastricht 2010	197 (T2D)	40-57	3 months
Weinstock 2016	200	60 >	14 days

Figure 5: Tabular presentation of most prominent surveyed Datasets

OhioT1DM Dataset [66] commonly used in other studies [36], includes 8 weeks of data collected from 12 anonymous T1D patients, between the ages 20 and 60 years old. Data was highly unsynchronized as collected from multiple devices and sometimes logged manually [66].

Most datasets focus on a specific age group, enabling a combination of 5 datasets to form a complete lifespan sequence. Although joining datasets could expand the size and scope of the model, the accuracy and usage between different models of prevalent CGM devices, as well as environmental factors and testing methodology differences, can have a detrimental impact on prediction accuracy, given increased variability of data quality.

CGM Intervention in Teens and Young Adults with T1D (CITY) Dataset [32] was chosen, featuring data from 153 patients over a period of 22 months [34]. With the largest amount of CGM data collected from similar CGM devices (Dexcom G4/G5/G6). Using a large dataset would allow for more flexibility in model choice, training methodology and more accurate testing.

\*The source of the CITY dataset is Jaeb Center for Health Research, but the analysis, content and conclusions presented herein are solely the responsibility of the authors and have not been reviewed or approved by Jaeb Center for Health Research

### 3.2 Data Analysis

#### 3.2.1 Patient Cohort

CITY focuses on teenagers and young adults, with a mean (s.d.) age of 17.46 (2.91), with 100 patients between the ages of 14 and 18 (inclusive) and 53 over 18, at the time of enrollment. The maximum age was 24.

Insufficient frequency of patients' physical examinations, lead to the decision of representing variable physical features as static by computing the mean or max as appropriate. The mean (s.d.) weight was 74.26 kg (16.22) and 169 cm (10.28) for height. Therefore the mean (s.d.) Body Mass Index (BMI) was 25.96 (5.14), which means 50.9% of patients are classified as atleast overweight with 17.6% obese. In comparison with the United States adult average BMI of 29.3, with 71.0% being at least overweight [68], the studies cohort is shown to be healthier on average.

Commonly expected biological trends, such as on average men being taller and heavier than women, were represented in the population. Interestingly, the frequent assumption of a positive correlation between weight and resting heart rate was absent. The same is true for abnormal health judged by a detailed medical assessment, which was randomly distributed within the population, independent of both weight and height. It is important to note that correlations observed from this limited sample are not representative of the population at large and should be taken with great caution.

Further Analysis of the patient population indicated patients were highly educated with over 74% attending university. Ethnicity was highly homogeneous with 129 out of 153 (84.3%) patients being of white background. Annual Income in US Dollars had a mean (s.d.) of \$64,869 (58,348). This elevated standard deviation, alongside a high variance of 3,404.51, quantifies a large division in annual income, with 36 patients earning over \$100,000 and 41 earning less than \$25,000. Results are consistent with the median household income of \$67,521 in 2020 [69].

Despite the scope of the data limited to teenagers and young adults with T1D, selection bias in the study cohort is evident towards the white ethnic group and the highly educated. This cohort may not be representative of common glucose concentration behaviour, therefore limiting the generalisation and adaptability of the model.

#### 3.2.2 CGM Measurements

Of note are the Florida USA origins of the data, where the unit for BG concentration is mg/dL, whereas the European standard is mmol/L (1 mmol/L = 18 mg/dL). CGM Readings were distributed in a positively skewed normal distribution, with a mean of 204.56 mg/dL and standard deviation of 87.21. Interestingly, the largest concentration of reading is at 401 with 3.59%. This could be due to the limited range of the CGM devices (Dexcom G4/G5/G6). However further extreme readings exist, with 1009 readings (0.012%) above 401 mg/dL up to a maximum of 600 mg/dL, which is diagnosed as a Diabetic Coma [70]



Figure 6: Mean (left) and s.d. (right) of daily CGM readings grouped at 5 minute intervals

Minimum average levels of 191.61 mg/dL can be observed at 7:05 with maximums of 218.08 at 21:40. Variability of readings remains very high at a minimum of 78.92 across the whole day, with further increases up to a maximum of 91.08 during evening hours. This demonstrates instability of BG levels and large variability between consecutive days (weak cyclical behaviour), which can be medically correlated to the patient's exercise regime and diet throughout the day. Although this posed greater difficulty of prediction, it allowed for more flexibility during training set creation.



Figure 7: Distribution of Lengths of consecutive CGM reading sequences

Readings were not performed consistently, with unpredictable periods of missing data as a result of multiple factors such as: CGM device battery depletion, patient forgetting to apply CGM device. This is quantified by a large standard deviation of 562.33. Half of the sequences (N=14,079) were under 50 in length, with all sequences were under 4,000 (13.89 days) in length, except a single extrema of length 9,963 (34.59 days).

#### 3.2.3 Statistical Methods

Statistical Analysis of Patient Data was conducted in order to select essential static features, in addition to temporal CGM readings.

Covariance Matrix and Correlation Matrix were computed with all values normalised previous to calculations to eliminate value range bias. The covariance quantifies the direction of the relationship, with a positive covariance signifying a positive correlation and similarly a negative value for a negative correlation. Product Moment Correlation Coefficient (PMCC) neatly accompanies the covariance matrix and is used to calculate the strength of a correlation. Leveraging both matrices allows for the identification of both the direction and strength of trends between features.



Figure 8: Covariance and Correlation Matrix for Patient Details (normalised between 10 and -10 for illustration purposes)

HbA1c has a high variance  $(10.97 \times 10^{-3})$  indicating the high variability in diabetic patients, which could be detrimental to generalised prediction models.

Furthermore HbA1c covariance with weight and height are significantly reduced, with  $-6.33 \times 10^{-4}$  and  $-8.14 \times 10^{-4}$  respectively, in addition to further reductions with BMI. Interestingly HbA1c and BMI are positively correlated (0.024), in contrast to the negative correlations with Weight and Height (-0.048 and -0.151). This minor correlation goes against common belief, presenting negligible correlations between BG levels and primitive health indicators such as BMI, suggesting independence between body fat percentage and BG concentrations.



Figure 9: Illustration of Annual Income ( $10^3$  USD) against HbA1c (mg/dL) (m = -0.0955)

Analysing the correlation between HbA1c and Annual income presents a significant causal relationship. Elevated PMCC between the two (-0.17), in addition to negative linear correlation (presented above) reinforces the theory of lifestyle and dietary differences between social classes impacting patient glucose levels. This could be attributed to the increased cost of low glycemic food sources such as Protein and Vegetables, in comparison to cheap processed foods, prohibiting access to lower income patients and elevating their exposure to sugar-rich foods.

Most important features can be selected using variance thresholding [71] approach, which removes all variables whose variance does not exceed threshold. This yields the most meaningful features to be: Annual income, Education Level, HbA1c, Height and weight. However as BMI is calculated from the combination of height and weight, it is a more meaningful feature and therefore better representative of patient health. HbA1c, Annual income and BMI are concluded to be the most crucial features.

### 3.3 Clustering

Calculations of cohort variability revealed major divergences within the patient population, advocating leveraging these differences by clustering patients into distinct cohorts, thus decreasing variability in patient characteristics. Statistical methods quantified the large covariances within patient details (<u>Section 3.2.3</u>). Correspondingly, CGM data was found to have weak cyclical behaviour and extremas (<u>Section 3.2.2</u>). The aforementioned indicates the scope of major divergences in the population.

An assumption can be made that contrasting patient characteristics lead to heterogeneous behaviour of BG concentrations. In the case of similar patient characteristics a generalised model trained upon a single population could be successfully implemented. By contrast, with large variations between patients it may be necessary to train personalised models for each patient, which could restrict the scope of CGM behaviour, decreasing prediction difficulty. However this would significantly reduce the size of the training set, introducing a prevalent risk of underfitting in complex models, such as LSTM.

Gaussian Mixture Modelling (GMM) [72] was chosen over K-means clustering, which assumes circular distribution by using the euclidean distance between points, whereas GMM allows for the elliptical spread of data for better division. The expectation-maximisation (EM) algorithm [73], was utilised to optimise centroid positioning. Insurances were made that the solution was optimal by performing 200 iterations for each of the 20 random initial settings.



Figure 10: Relationship between HbA1c (horizontal) and Annual Income(vertical) across the coloured 3 cohort of patients.

Effectiveness of groupings could be quantified by the lower bound value on the log-likelihood of the optimal clustering. Although combinations of most varianced variables such as sex and annual income would provide the most distinct groupings, it is evident that these variables would have the least impact on oscillations of CGM readings, which would not substantially improve model performance. Experimentation with a range of more meaningful variables directed to the choice of HbA1c and Annual Income with 3 distinct cohorts, resulting in the lowest log-likelihood of -8.25.



Figure 11: Distribution of HbA1c across 3 cohorts.

Further analysis was conducted into the resulting distributions of variables for each cohort, visually illustrating the distinctness of the clustering. It is evident that GMM was focused on the separation of annual income brackets with high, medium and low groupings. However HbA1c has significant overlap with limited distinction, which could be detrimental to model performance.

### 3.4 Design Methodology

Although Hypo/Hyperglycemic Event Forecast Models could give greater benefit to the patient with longer PH, Glucose Concentration Prediction Models are more widely used, offer a deeper insight into the explainability of the model's prediction process, as well as potential use in Artificial Pancreases in the future.

Such regressive models for Glucose concentration prediction can be used both in a recursive and direct fashion. Recursive methods incorporate the previous prediction in their input, whereas direct methods do not [36]. Direct methods require the implementation of sequence to sequence models (many-to-many), which inflate model complexity exacerbating underfit risk. Recursive predictions lead to the accumulation of error, resulting in a lesser accuracy, however deeper explainability insights can be gained, by analysis of each individual time step. More thorough analysis could promote faster adoption, in addition to trust and reliability for patients and medical staff. Therefore a recursive approach will be implemented.

Analysis of varied Machine Learning Models (Section 2.4) has shown a range of trade-offs between levels of model complexity. Therefore, it is most appropriate that a diverse span of models be used, allowing for detailed comparison and selecting the highest performing. Comparative investigation led to the choice of: Linear Regression, HMM and Stacked LSTM models. Prevalent AR models will not be implemented as previous studies have indicated disjointed sequential data, as quantified in Section 3.2.2, can severely impact accuracy [74]. Although a range of LSTM configurations, such as Bi-directional and Convolutional are available, they significantly impede explainability investigations, as well as increasing the risk of underfitting. Therefore a Stacked LSTM will be implemented enabling flexibility in model complexity, by adjustment of stacked layers.

This chosen range of models enables a thorough comparison, given the same training data and allows for better judgement of accuracy. Discrepancies during comparisons with other predictive solutions for Autonomous Diabetes Systems, could arise from the scarcse use of the CITY dataset, not allowing for equivalent judgement. Thus, internal model evaluation and use of multiple models can help alleviate the aforementioned problems.

A multitude of two training methodologies will be implemented in a separate parallel form. A generalised model will employ all available temporal data, in distinction to a clustering approach, which will develop 3 independent models from each of the cohorts outlined in <u>Section 3.3</u>. Both approaches will be independently trained on a sequence of 132 measurements, which approximates 11 hours, and predict the next 12 measurements (60 minutes). These will be tested against the validation set consisting of 12 readings. Insights from <u>Section 3.2.2</u> informed this decision, as 10,379 sequences (36.69%) of length more than 144 will be available for training and testing. Although decreasing the required length would allow for more training data, shorter sequences may not supply adequate context to LSTM's long-term memory impacting prediction performance.

It is vital that all CGM sequences belonging to a certain patient must be kept in the same cluster to ensure there is no contamination between the training and testing data sets. Standard randomised sampling of sequences for cross-validation method (<u>Section 5.1</u>), would mix readings between clusters, therefore train-test split must be conducted subsequent to clustering.

Performance will be evaluated using a series of metrics: Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE),  $F_1$  score and Energy of Second Order Difference (ESOD). Details are outlined in <u>Section 5.1</u>.

HMM with fewer hyperparameters facilitate more detailed and thorough interpretation, as opposed to LSTM, which are challenging to comprehend. However due to time constraints explainability analysis will be limited to the best performing model. This will aim to quantify the attention placed on each datapoint, emphasising significant events.

# 4 Implementation

### 4.1 Data Preparation

Raw data stored in text-file format, from the CITY dataset, was imported and passed through a preprocessing pipeline for training and testing set creation. Python packages such as Pandas and Numpy were heavily utilised within the pipeline, in addition to all statistical analysis documented in previous sections.



Figure 12: Illustration of CGM data loss (number of readings) throughout Preprocessing pipeline

As cohorts were divided by patient, all CGM data from one patient was included in the cohort they belonged to. The same process is computed for the generalised dataset and each of the cohorts, divided from clustering.

Consecutive measurements within sequences must be made within 15 mins, allowing sufficient time for users to switch CGM devices once battery is depleted. 28,290 sequences of connected measurements were identified. However only 10,379 sequences (36.69%) were more than 144 in length (Section 3.4). Subsequently randomised division into test sets and training is performed using a 5-fold cross-validation methodology.

Segmentation into lengths of 144, of both training and test sets was performed (as specified in <u>Section 3.4</u>), with the remaining readings being discarded. The first 132 readings were used as input data with the following 12 used as validation during training. This data was used to train the HMM and Linear Regression models.

Additional data augmentation was performed on LSTM training data, due to the inefficiency of training HMM models. Therefore it was impractical to train HMM with such a large dataset. Augmentation vastly enlarged the number of sequences from 49,769 to 6,391,075, using a sliding window size of 144 samples (11 hours) and step size of 1 (5 minutes). Similarly 132 initial readings are used to train with the following 12 used as validation. Although duplication of sequence segments will not provide unseen information, variations of sequences present varied context, maximising the available training data. Also it is vital to note augmentation was only performed on the training set and not validation set in order to avoid test set contamination and duplication of test sequences producing unequal representation.

Dataset	Patients	Set Size (sequences)	Training Set Size (sequences)	Test Set Size (sequences)
All	153	6,391,075	5,112,860	1,278,215
Cohort 1	86	3,296,488	2,637,190	659,298
Cohort 2	36	1,203,470	962,776	240,694
Cohort 3	31	1,891,117	1,512,893	378,224

Figure 13: Tabular comparison of all processed datasets used

Cohort 1 is the largest with 52% of data, followed by Cohort 2 and 3 which roughly share the remaining data at 19% and 30% respectively.

Pandas' Dataframes enabled versatile analysis of given features, however performance limitations exist and Numpy Arrays were favoured for training. Serialisation of the arrays using the python pickle library was conducted in order to limit computation and ensure data consistency between models.

### 4.2 HMM

HMM model was created using the hmmlearn python library [41]. Regular step intervals in the dataset promoted the use of a Discrete HMM as opposed to Continuous HMM, which considers irregular measurements [77]. This would provide further context and disproportionately favour HMM over LSTM. An implementation of Viterbi Training Algorithm [76] was required, as it was not included in the python package. This dynamic programming algorithm approximates the maximum likelihood explanation, predicting the next state, which corresponds to a segment of the possible glucose concentrations. The initial formula  $\mu(X_0) = P[Y_0|X_0]P[X_0]$  is utilised to identify the initial best state, given observed data. All further best states (k) are recursively identified using  $\mu(X_k) = \mu(X_{k-1})P[X_k|X_{k-1}]P[Y_k|X_k]$ . Scaling of the Viterbi output was required to map the ordinal state values to real glucose measurements.

The default Baum-Welch Algorithm [75] implementation in the hmmlearn package was utilised to train the HMM. Training was very slow, with limited parallelisation and no GPU support. All computation was performed on a single CPU core (4.5GHz) with 32 GB of RAM.

Number of States	Iterations	RMSE
3	1k	156.04 (18.07)
20	2k	146.15 (17.92)
100	10k	112.34 (15.73)

Figure 14: Table of all HMM models used in hyperparameter tuning

An array of hyperparameter combinations were investigated. Increases in the number of states led to additional complexity in the model, requiring further iterations to fully train the HMM. The best performant model had the included the most states and iterations, with 100 states and 10,000 iterations resulting in an RMSE of 112.34. Larger HMM models were impractical to train, given that 10,000 iterations took over 12 hours of computation.

#### 4.3 LSTM

Creation of the LSTM model was performed in an object-oriented approach permitted by the PyTorch framework in Python. By leveraging polymorphism standardise LSTM PyTorch classes can be inherited and adapted to specific dataset requirements, whilst remaining compatible with other supporting logic through standardised interfaces.

The nn.Module base class [48] for all neural networks, must first be inherited to enable interactions with other modules by implementing the interface through the \_\_init\_\_ () and forward() functions. Specialised layers such as LSTM are defined within the \_\_init\_\_() function and stored as local class properties. By storing key model attributes as local variables rapid alterations to the architecture can be made by re-initialising the object with a new set of starting parameters. Next a single forward pass and accompanying logic is defined within the forward() function [48], ordering the execution of the previously defined layers. The nn.LSTM layer [46] prediction internally computes the prediction from L stacked layers, which is next flattened and passed to a fully connected output layer nn.Linear [47]. The output is returned in addition to the hidden state to be used in the following recursive prediction.

The default Mini-Batch Gradient Descent methodology included within PyTorch was utilised, alongside PyTorch CUDA implementation, enabling fast parallelised training on a GPU. Training was performed on a Nvidia RTX 3070ti GPU consisting of 6144 CUDA cores and 8GB of VRAM. A DataLoader [49] was employed to iteratively load batches of 128 sequences to the GPU, which was limited by the size of the VRAM. Every model was trained for a duration of 20 epochs, with a limited test subsequently performed. This employed a randomised constrained testset (N=1000 sequences) as a heuristic of test loss. This methodology facilitated the identification of overfitting by comparison of the Training loss and Test loss, making it fundamental to the training of large models prevalent to overfitting. ADAM optimiser with a default learning rate of 0.001 was incorporated to dynamically reduce the learning rate. This enabled smaller changes to be made by the Mini-batch Gradient Descent Algorithm, fine tuning parameters to the identified minimum.

#### 4.3.2 Hyper parameter Tuning

Evaluation of a broad spectrum of hyperparameter combinations was performed for this deep network. Hyperparameters such as number of layers and hidden memory cells are crucial aspects of the model and highly dependent on the complexity of the dataset. Accuracy and efficiency requirements are also a factor with increased hidden memory cells able to store more greater context, but significantly elevate computation requirements and escalate the risk of overfitting.



Figure 15: LSTM RMSE loss on limited test set across variable hidden sizes

Firstly, the effect of Hidden size on prediction performance was investigated. Complexity of larger models was clearly illustrated by initial performance, where larger models had worse initial performance and required more epochs to reach minimum loss. Only 3 epochs were required for hidden size 8 to train, in contrast to 9 for 128 memory cells. Overfit was evident across larger models with rising discrepancies between train loss and test loss. This is clearly illustrated within epoch 4 for hidden size 128, which has the lowest training loss of 41.42 across all sizes, but the highest test loss of 242.00. The best models: epoch 3 of hidden size 8 and epoch 6 of hidden size 16 were tested upon the whole testset, resulting in Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) of 33.31 and 33.07. Although the hidden size 16 has better performance, training took twice as long, which would be further exacerbated with the addition of stacked layers. Therefore 8 was chosen to be the optimal hidden memory size. Secondly, the same approach was applied to investigate the layer depth. A presumption can be made that the addition of stacked layers (<u>Section 2.4.2</u>) enabled deeper insights from a more abstracted viewpoint.



Figure 16: LSTM RMSE loss on limited test set across variable amounts of layers

Slight improvement over single layered vanilla LSTM, with the second layer making the most significant improvements to accuracy. Only marginal improvements were observed from the third layer, when compared to the addition of the second. Layer 4 did not coverage during training, having a consistent loss over 7300 and so it was inappropriate to test.

Epoch 5 of 2 stacked layers and epoch 8 of 3 layers were evaluated upon the whole test set, resulting in RMSE of 29.05 and 28.55 respectively. The optimal final model is made up of 1,513 trainable parameters and consists of 8 hidden memory cells, with 3 stacked layers. These hyperparameters were reused for all 5 repetitions of the cross-validation process.

# 5 Evaluation

#### 5.1 Evaluation methodology

The evaluation will be conducted using a 5-fold cross-validation strategy (20% of the sequences being used to test and 80% to train), in addition to a random sampler, with a predefined seed to ensure repeatability. Sequences of consecutive measurements derived from a cohort, will be divided prior to segmentation and augmentation in order to eliminate duplicate sequences between the training and test sets. This eliminates the risk of test set contamination. Accuracy of the models will be evaluated with an array of metrics, for thorough comparative inspection of different loss types.

Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE) quantifies the proximity of predictions to the validation set. The PyTorch Mean Squared Error (MSE) loss function [50] used, had to be square rooted and then averaged over the number of batches in a training epoch.

Threshold Classification of glucose concentration measurements into hyperglycaemia, normal and hypoglycaemia, with thresholds of 70 mg/dL and 280 mg/dL, enabled the calculations of Precision and Recall metrics. Precision calculates the percentage of positive predictions given a real validation outcome. Similarly, Recall presents the relationship between real positive cases and predicted positive cases. Due to the possibility of serious consequences to patient health and life, an overestimation of false positives is most desireable. False negative predictions could delay appropriate rehabilitative action and exacerbate consequences. This creates a trade-off between precision and recall. A final calculation of the harmonic mean between precision and recall, known as the  $F_1$  score [35], is used to quantify an unbiased measure impartial to precision and recall manipulation.

$$ESOD_n = \frac{ESOD(\hat{y})}{ESOD(y)}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{k=3}^{N} (\hat{y}(k) - 2\hat{y}(k-1) + \hat{y}(k-2))^2}{\sum_{k=3}^{N} (y(k) - 2y(k-1) + y(k-2))^2}$$

Equation 3: Formula definition of ESOD metric, given set of predictions (y) and validation set (y)

Energy of Second Order Difference (ESOD) reflects the risk of false alerts, indicating the reliability of a model [<u>36</u>]. The ideal ESOD score is 1, meaning the prediction is identical to the validation measurement.

### 5.2 Training Comparison

Evaluation was independently conducted on all four LSTM models, trained on both generalised and personalised methodologies, in order to recognise the best training procedure. This was conducted on only one of the 5-fold datasets.

	LSTM Model	RMSE Cohort 1	RMSE Cohort 2	RMSE Cohort 3	Total RMSE
	Cohort 1, epoch 2	30.92			
Cohort	Cohort 2, epoch 2		28.81		59.30
	Cohort 3, epoch 7			77.29	
All	All, epoch 8	30.51	27.62	27.87	28.52
Difference		-0.41	-1.19	-49.42	-30.78

Figure 17: Comparison of RMSE between Training Sets

A generalised training procedure is shown to yield higher performant models across the whole population when compared to a personalised methodology. Limited data availability used to train cohort-specific models impacted performance, with the largest cohort 1 (86 patients) having the smallest performance impact of -0.41 RMSE, whereas the smallest cohort 3 (31 patients) has a substantial accuracy loss of -49.42 RMSE. Performance could be further degraded for cohort 3 specific model, which has the lowest mean annual income, as this population was identified to have the greatest glucose concentration variability in section 3.2.3.

Vital to note possible test set contamination as the test sets created for each cohort were independently cross-validated from the generalised test set, meaning some sequences used within the generalised training set could be present in the cohort-specific test sets used to evaluate the generalised model.

Further investigations could be made into adapting the generalised model with transfer learning for possible decreases in loss for specific cohorts. However significant data set expansion would be necessary in order to avoid test set contamination, therefore inappropriate for the current available data.

#### 5.3 Results

LSTM model was tested on the augmented test set, whereas the HMM and Heuristic models were tested on just a segmented test set. Testing of LSTM and HMM model was arduous as a result of the recursive prediction implementation, which introduced dependencies on previous prediction and memory state, meaning parallelisation was inhibited.

Model	RMSE (mg/dL)	ESOD
Heuristic - Copy Last	33.75 (6.85)	0.00
Heuristic - Linear Regression	43.30 (7.31)	1.81E-28
НММ	112.34 (15.73)	7397.38
LSTM	28.55 (3.28)	0.12

Figure 18: Tabular evaluation of average model performance with corresponding s.d.

LSTM network outperformed all other architectures at the 60-minute prediction interval, presenting excellent performance at predicting hypoglycaemia and hyperglycaemia, with precision of 0.865, recall 0.183 and  $F_1$  score 0.303, in comparison to baseline Heuristic and HMM models. Given the large discrepancies between precision and recall, it is evident that thresholds require adjustments to be appropriate for medical use, with reasons outlined in <u>Section 5.1</u>. Further analysis focused on LSTM performance.



Figure 19: Illustration of reference CGM readings (mg/dL) against LSTM predictions (mg/dL)

The Surveillance error grid [78] quantifies accuracy by plotting predictions and reference values and visually comparing against the coloured continuous risk error gradient. This is similar to Clarke Error Grid Analysis, however a continuous risk error grid is used as opposed to predefined zoning techniques [38]. It is evident that reference extrema readings over 400 mg/dL were never predicted by the LSTM model. This could be a result of severe under-representation in the dataset.

Predictions over yellow and orange areas, indicate elevated risk stratification, which poses an increased likelihood of health consequences. To add to that, subtle underestimation can be observed. This is highly agnostic in medical applications, as overestimation leading to unnecessary treatment is a more favourable, less dangerous scenario.

	RMSE (mg/dL)	Dataset	
НММ	112.34	CITY	
LSTM	28.55	CITY	
LSTM [ <u>36</u> ]	55.34	OhioT1DM	
LSTM [ <u>79</u> ]	16.94	The Maastricht Study (T2D)	
ARIMA [ <u>79]</u>	27.77	The Maastricht Study (T2D)	

### 5.4 Model Comparison

Figure 20: Comparison with State-of-Art Models (\*subject to conversion)

Other studies have also demonstrated successful recursive predictions of glucose levels using LSTM models. However direct comparison is not appropriate as a result of dataset discrepancies, with the OhioT1DM having significantly limited amounts of data and the Maastricht Study using data from Type 2 Diabetes patients.

### 5.5 Explainability

Deeper analysis with the aim of explaining decision processes, will be conducted upon the best performant model. LSTM model explainability can be investigated by assigning an importance to each datapoint in the time series. This could lead to the identification of trends in which events are significant, allowing medical professionals and patients to gain a deeper understanding of the reasoning behind each prediction. Furthermore there is potential for the identification of a patient's detrimental behaviour that increases risk of an hypo/hyperglycemic event occurring and should be altered. As featured in <u>Section 2.5</u>, mapping values of the forget gate vector indicates importance of the previous cell state [80].

Predictions based on training data have been outlined with the green line and those made recursively from previous predictions in red.



Figure 21: Importance of each CGM reading (mg/dL) in sequence, throughout all LSTM layers

It is clear elevated attention is placed on initial predictions as the hidden states are empty and require assignment.

The initial LSTM layer only utilises 2 out of 8 hidden states at indexes 0 and 3 and all others remain at a constant value of 1. A negative correlation is observed, with importance placed on the lowest glucose concentrations through the day. This could be interpreted as a basic identification of hypoglycemic events.

The first deep LSTM layer extracts more meaning, using all 8 hidden states. Mean values increase around large variations of glucose levels, leading to the conclusion that focus is placed on the identification of large glucose concentration fluctuations throughout the day. The next deep layer derives further meaning by using all hidden states. Although the presented correlations are not as evident as previously, it can be deduced that importance is placed on high glucose values, which could improve predictions of hyperglycemia, unaccounted for by the first layer.

Furthermore as this is the final LSTM layer, previous to the fully connected layer, its values follow the desired output, and therefore positively correlate with CGM readings.

Investigating the explainability of the 2 stacked layer LSTM model, yielded similar findings and given the insights into similar loss between the 2 and 3 layered LSTMs (<u>Section 4.3.2</u>), the theory that the third layer had very minor contributions is reinforced.

It is vital to note the limitations of this method, which can only analyse a single sequence and requires visual inspection for each. This means it is not possible to quantify the trends observed in each layer, therefore comparison across all sequences in the test set is severely impractical for large datasets.

#### 5.6 Limitations

The CITY dataset used demonstrates bias towards white and educated patients, as analysed in <u>Section 3.2.1</u>, so the cohort is unrepresentative of the American population. This does not take into account the elevated demographic variations between countries such as the United States and the United Kingdom. Studies of other populations in India, have identified "high-calorie/high-fat and high sugar diets" [81], altering blood glucose concentrations when compared to others. This could lead to deficient accuracy in marginalised communities, which are not accurately represented in the patient cohort.

This could raise the need for personalised model trained at the state level to be better representative of the demographic population. However alternative approaches should be considered as patient clustering into smaller cohorts was shown to have a detrimental effect on performance.

# 6 Conclusions and Future work

### 6.1 Project Management

Given the research based nature of this project, covering a range of topics, significant planning was required. By restricting time for certain tasks, the scope of the research was limited and reducing the risk of overruns, therefore focus could be placed on the success criteria. Appendix B presents the planned work schedule, whereas Appendix C shows the schedule that took place.

Initial planning was formulated into a conventional waterfall methodology, with linear progression of tasks from data acquisition to training set creation. Simultaneous research was conducted in order to follow best practices, in addition to informing the ideation of the design methodology. This workflow was followed until 13<sup>th</sup> December 2021, where development was paused over the festive period, to allow more time for exam preparations and vocational activities.

Subsequent technical development from 31<sup>st</sup> January 2022 altered planning schemes to an Incremental Model, which appropriately divisioned end-to-end development of each model into separate linear progressions, from creation to evaluation. The perceived most challenging model: LSTM, was developed first, with Heuristics and HMM ensuing. Evaluation and Model comparison were performed at the conclusion of all model development. Concurrent report writing during model creation, enabled active recording of ideas and steps taken, minimising the risk of forgetting details.

Later focus was placed on formal documentation of the project, through the writing of this report. Visualisations were created using the python packages Matplotlib and Seaborn, in order to enhance and assist the conveyance of complex concepts. Additional Analysis was also necessary to assist with explanations.

### 6.2 Conclusions

Creation, Evaluation and Explainability Analysis was conducted on a range of techniques for predicting BG levels up to a 60 minute interval. <u>Section 5.4</u> demonstrates LSTM model accuracy to be akin to state-of-art models in similar use cases. However as illustrated in figure 19, inaccurate predictions persist, elevating risk of hypo/hyperglycemia events. Therefore it is not considered appropriate for use in Artificial Pancreas applications. Nonetheless meaningful guidance is still provided to T1D patients.

Study has established a thorough training methodology for future Machine Learning models. Generalised models are proven to outperform personalised models (<u>Section 5.2</u>). Analysis of LSTM layers has shown the importance placed on major fluctuations in glucose concentration, as well as unconventional perspectives of high or low values.

#### 6.3 Future Work

Independent peer review would be necessary for academic integrity and reproducibility of this approach which is crucial in the medical industry.

Future investigations could be conducted with addition of variable patient statistics such as weight, age and annual income directly to the model to provide further context.

An opportunity for deployment of the LSTM model in edge devices could arise, due to its small size and low energy requirements for inference. Sensitive medical data could be stored locally on the device and predictions computed locally [82]. Differential Privacy [84] techniques could also be implemented, leveraging the hidden state of LSTM to encode raw input data. This would allow data to be anonymously stored in the cloud without compromising the patient's privacy, as well as allowing for more detailed replication of prediction and deeper analysis of model error.

Furthermore, RMSE loss and other diagnostics may also be freely transmitted to web storage to aid evaluation, as it will not make patients uniquely identifiable. Similar approaches have already been implemented on Natural Language Processing of news articles using LSTM models for stock prediction [85]. Apprehensive patients could be persuaded by privacy enforcement, promoting patient cohort expansion and model invariance.

Compliance with regulatory policies [83] is vital for successful deployment to medical devices. These require extensive evaluation of each model, previous to certification, therefore continuous training and personalisation would not be possible.

### References

[1] Mayo Clinic (2021). Type 1 diabetes - Symptoms and causes. [online] Mayo Clinic. Available\_at:<u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/type-1-diabetes/symptoms-causes/syc-20353011</u>.

[2] Atkinson, M.A., Eisenbarth, G.S. and Michels, A.W. (2014). Type 1 diabetes. The Lancet, [online] 383(9911), pp.69–82. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4380133/</u>.

[3] IDF Diabetes Atlas Ninth Edition (2019). [online] Available at: <u>https://www.diabetesatlas.org/upload/resources/material/20200302\_133351\_IDFATLAS9e-fin</u> <u>al-web.pdf</u>.

[4] Hitti, M. (2008). Types of Diabetes Mellitus. [online] WebMD. Available at: <u>https://www.webmd.com/diabetes/guide/types-of-diabetes-mellitus</u>.

[5] American Diabetes Association (2008). Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care, 32(Supplement\_1), pp.S62–S67.

[6] Hood, K.K., Huestis, S., Maher, A., Butler, D., Volkening, L. and Laffel, L.M.B. (2006). Depressive Symptoms in Children and Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes: Association with diabetes-specific characteristics. Diabetes Care, 29(6), pp.1389–1389.

[7] Erbach, M., Freckmann, G., Hinzmann, R., Kulzer, B., Ziegler, R., Heinemann, L. and Schnell, O. (2016). Interferences and Limitations in Blood Glucose Self-Testing. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, [online] 10(5), pp.1161–1168. Available at: <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5032951/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5032951/</a>.

[8] Prolonged Nocturnal Hypoglycemia Is Common During 12 Months of Continuous Glucose Monitoring in Children and Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. (2010). Diabetes Care, 33(5), pp.1004–1008.

[9] Vettoretti, M., Cappon, G., Facchinetti, A. and Sparacino, G. (2020). Advanced Diabetes Management Using Artificial Intelligence and Continuous Glucose Monitoring Sensors. Sensors, 20(14), p.3870.

[10] Halford, J. and Harris, C. (2010). Determining Clinical and Psychological Benefits and Barriers with Continuous Glucose Monitoring Therapy. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, 12(3), pp.201–205.

[11] openaps.readthedocs.io. (n.d.). Welcome to OpenAPS's documentation! — OpenAPS 0.0.0 documentation. [online] Available at: <u>https://openaps.readthedocs.io/en/latest/</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[12] Schmidt, S. and Nørgaard, K. (2014). Bolus Calculators. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, [online] 8(5), pp.1035–1041. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4455388/</u> [Accessed 26 Jun. 2019].

[13] Bellazzi, R., Arcelloni, M., Bensa, G., Blankenfeld, H., Brugués, E., Carson, E., Cobelli, C., Cramp, D., D'Annunzio, G., De Cata, P., de Leiva, A., Deutsch, T., Fratino, P., Gazzaruso, C., Garcìa, A., Gergely, T., Gómez, E., Harvey, F., Ferrari, P. and Hernando, E. (2003).
Design, Methods and Evaluation Directions of a Multi-Access Service for the Management of Diabetes Mellitus Patients. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, 5(4), pp.621–629.

[14] Mougiakakou, S.G., Bartsocas, C.S., Bozas, E., Chaniotakis, N., Iliopoulou, D., Kouris, I., Pavlopoulos, S., Prountzou, A., Skevofilakas, M., Tsoukalis, A., Varotsis, K., Vazeou, A., Zarkogianni, K. and Nikita, K.S. (2010). SMARTDIAB: A Communication and Information Technology Approach for the Intelligent Monitoring, Management and Follow-up of Type 1 Diabetes Patients. IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine, [online] 14(3), pp.622–633. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5401101">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5401101</a> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[15] Cook, C.B., McMichael, J.P., Lieberman, R., Mann, L.J., King, E.C., New, K.M., Vaughn, P.S., Dunbar, V.G. and Caudle, J.M. (2005). The Intelligent Dosing System: Application for Insulin Therapy and Diabetes Management. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, 7(1), pp.58–71.

[16] Schmidt, S. and Nørgaard, K. (2014). Bolus Calculators. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, [online] 8(5), pp.1035–1041. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4455388/</u> [Accessed 26 Jun. 2019].

[17] Herrero, P., Pesl, P., Bondia, J., Reddy, M., Oliver, N., Georgiou, P. and Toumazou, C. (2015). Method for automatic adjustment of an insulin bolus calculator: In silico robustness evaluation under intra-day variability. Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine, 119(1), pp.1–8.

[18] Sun, Q., Jankovic, M.V., Budzinski, J., Moore, B., Diem, P., Stettler, C. and Mougiakakou, S.G. (2019). A Dual Mode Adaptive Basal-Bolus Advisor Based on Reinforcement Learning. IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics, [online] 23(6), pp.2633–2641. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8579186</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[19] Oviedo, S., Vehí, J., Calm, R. and Armengol, J. (2016). A review of personalized blood glucose prediction strategies for T1DM patients. International Journal for Numerical Methods in Biomedical Engineering, 33(6), p.e2833.

[20] Zecchin, C., Facchinetti, A., Sparacino, G. and Cobelli, C. (2016). How Much Is Short-Term Glucose Prediction in Type 1 Diabetes Improved by Adding Insulin Delivery and Meal Content Information to CGM Data? A Proof-of-Concept Study. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, 10(5), pp.1149–1160.

[21] Man, C.D., Micheletto, F., Lv, D., Breton, M., Kovatchev, B. and Cobelli, C. (2014). The UVA/PADOVA Type 1 Diabetes Simulator. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, 8(1), pp.26–34.

[22] Bitterman, D.S., Aerts, H.J.W.L. and Mak, R.H. (2020). Approaching autonomy in medical artificial intelligence. The Lancet Digital Health, 2(9), pp.e447–e449.

[23] Anon, (n.d.). SmartGuard - How it (probably) works. [online] Available at: <u>https://littlet1d.blogspot.com/2015/07/smartguard-how-it-probably-works.html</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[24] Abraham, S.B., Arunachalam, S., Zhong, A., Agrawal, P., Cohen, O. and McMahon, C.M. (2019). Improved Real-World Glycemic Control With Continuous Glucose Monitoring System Predictive Alerts. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, p.193229681985933.

[25] Gani, A., Gribok, A.V., Yinghui Lu, Ward, W.K., Vigersky, R.A. and Reifman, J. (2010). Universal Glucose Models for Predicting Subcutaneous Glucose Concentration in Humans. IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine, [online] 14(1), pp.157–165. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5291722</u>.

[26] Tadayon, M. and Pottie, G. (2020). Comparative Analysis of the Hidden Markov Model and LSTM: A Simulative Approach. arXiv:2008.03825 [cs, stat]. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/2008.03825</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[27] Posted by Sharmistha Chatterjee on July 26, 2020 at 7:09am and Blog, V. (n.d.). ARIMA/SARIMA vs LSTM with Ensemble learning Insights for Time Series Data. [online] <u>www.datasciencecentral.com</u>. Available at: <u>https://www.datasciencecentral.com/profiles/blogs/arima-sarima-vs-lstm-with-ensemble-learning-insights-for-time-ser</u>.

[28] Xia, J., Pan, S., Zhu, M., Cai, G., Yan, M., Su, Q., Yan, J. and Ning, G. (2019). A Long Short-Term Memory Ensemble Approach for Improving the Outcome Prediction in Intensive Care Unit. Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine, 2019, pp.1–10.

[29] Liu, H. and Zhang, J. (2008). On the L1 Regularized Regression. arXiv:0802.1517 [math, stat]. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/0802.1517</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[30] Montavon, G., Binder, A., Lapuschkin, S., Samek, W. and Müller, K.-R. (2019). Layer-Wise Relevance Propagation: An Overview. [online] Springer Link. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-3-030-28954-6\_10</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[31] Arras, L., Arjona-Medina, J.A., Widrich, M., Montavon, G., Gillhofer, M., Müller, K.-R., Hochreiter, S. and Samek, W. (2019). Explaining and Interpreting LSTMs. arXiv:1909.12114 [cs, stat]. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1909.12114</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[32] Jaeb Center for Health Research (n.d.) Continuous Glucose Monitoring on Glycemic Control in Adolescents and Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes Dataset - PUBLIC STUDY WEBSITES. [online] public.jaeb.org Available at: <u>https://public.jaeb.org/datasets/diabetes</u> [Accessed 14 Dec. 2021].

[33] Irina (2020). irinagain/Awesome-CGM. [online] GitHub. Available at: <u>https://github.com/irinagain/Awesome-CGM</u>.

[34] Laffel, L.M., Kanapka, L.G., Beck, R.W., Bergamo, K., Clements, M.A., Criego, A., DeSalvo, D.J., Goland, R., Hood, K., Liljenquist, D., Messer, L.H., Monzavi, R., Mouse, T.J., Prahalad, P., Sherr, J., Simmons, J.H., Wadwa, R.P., Weinstock, R.S., Willi, S.M. and Miller, K.M. (2020). Effect of Continuous Glucose Monitoring on Glycemic Control in Adolescents and Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. JAMA, 323(23), p.2388.

[35] Seo, W., Lee, Y.-B., Lee, S., Jin, S.-M. and Park, S.-M. (2019). A machine-learning approach to predict postprandial hypoglycemia. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making, 19(1).

[36] Xie, J. and Wang, Q. (2020). Benchmarking machine learning algorithms on blood glucose prediction for Type 1 Diabetes in comparison with classical time-series models. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering [online] Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9007528</u> [Accessed 1 Apr 2022].

[37] Rachel Draelos. (2019). Measuring Performance: AUC (AUROC). [online] Available at: <u>https://glassboxmedicine.com/2019/02/23/measuring-performance-auc-auroc/</u>. [Accessed 1 Apr 2022].

[38] Clarke, W.L. (2005). The Original Clarke Error Grid Analysis (EGA). Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, 7(5), pp.776–779.

[39] Rubik's Code. 2022. Stock Price Prediction Using Hidden Markov Model | Rubik's Code. [online] Available at:

https://rubikscode.net/2021/09/06/stock-price-prediction-using-hidden-markov-model [Accessed 1 May 2022].

[40] Baum, L., Petrie, T., Soules, G. and Weiss, N., 1970. A Maximization Technique Occurring in the Statistical Analysis of Probabilistic Functions of Markov Chains. The Annals of Mathematical Statistics, [online] 41(1), pp.164-171. Available at: <u>https://projecteuclid.org/journals/annals-of-mathematical-statistics/volume-41/issue-1/A-Maxi mization-Technique-Occurring-in-the-Statistical-Analysis-of-Probabilistic/10.1214/aoms/1177 697196.full [Accessed 2 May 2022].</u>

[41] Hmmlearn.readthedocs.io. 2022. *Tutorial — hmmlearn 0.2.7.post7+g1c73251 documentation*. [online] Available at: <u>https://hmmlearn.readthedocs.io/en/latest/tutorial.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[42] https://radai.iu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/KDH\_2020\_paper\_50.pdf

[43] Sak, H., Senior, A. and Beaufays, F. (2014). *Long Short-Term Memory Based Recurrent Neural Network Architectures for Large Vocabulary Speech Recognition*. [online] arXiv.org. Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1402.1128</u> [Accessed 10 May 2019].

[44] Olah, C. (2015). *Understanding LSTM Networks*. [online] colah.github.io. Available at: <u>https://colah.github.io/posts/2015-08-Understanding-LSTMs</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[45] Hochreiter, S. and Schmidhuber, J. (1997). Long Short-Term Memory. *Neural Computation*, 9(8), pp.1735–1780.

[F2] Sherstinsky, A. (2020). Fundamentals of Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) and Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) Network. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, [online] 404, p.132306. Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/pdf/1808.03314.pdf</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[46] pytorch.org. (2019a). *LSTM — PyTorch 1.12 documentation*. [online] Available at: <u>https://pytorch.org/docs/master/generated/torch.nn.LSTM.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[47] pytorch.org. (2019b). *Linear — PyTorch 1.8.0 documentation*. [online] Available at: <u>https://pytorch.org/docs/stable/generated/torch.nn.Linear.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[48] pytorch.org. (2019c). *Module — PyTorch 1.11.0 documentation*. [online] Available at: <u>https://pytorch.org/docs/stable/generated/torch.nn.Module.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[49] pytorch.org. (2019d). *Datasets & DataLoaders — PyTorch Tutorials 1.11.0+cu102 documentation*. [online] Available at:

https://pytorch.org/tutorials/beginner/basics/data\_tutorial.html [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[50] pytorch.org. (2019e). *MSELoss — PyTorch 1.11.0 documentation*. [online] Available at: <u>https://pytorch.org/docs/stable/generated/torch.nn.MSELoss.html#torch.nn.MSELoss</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[51] Hrnjica, B. and Bonacci, O. (2019). Lake Level Prediction using Feed Forward and Recurrent Neural Networks. *Water Resources Management*, 33(7), pp.2471–2484.

[52] Rabby, M.F., Tu, Y., Hossen, M.I., Lee, I., Maida, A.S. and Hei, X. (2021). Stacked LSTM based Deep Recurrent Neural Network with Kalman Smoothing for Blood Glucose Prediction. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 21(1).

[53] Le, P. and Zuidema, W. (2016). Quantifying the Vanishing Gradient and Long Distance Dependency Problem in Recursive Neural Networks and Recursive LSTMs. *arXiv:1603.00423 [cs]*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1603.00423</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[54] Essien, A. and Giannetti, C. (2019). A Deep Learning Framework for Univariate Time Series Prediction Using Convolutional LSTM Stacked Autoencoders. 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Innovations in Intelligent SysTems and Applications (INISTA).

[55] Wan, R., Mei, S., Wang, J., Liu, M. and Yang, F. (2019). Multivariate Temporal Convolutional Network: A Deep Neural Networks Approach for Multivariate Time Series Forecasting. *Electronics*, [online] 8(8), p.876. Available at: <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2079-9292/8/8/876</u> [Accessed 21 Sep. 2021].

[56] Sutskever, I., Vinyals, O. and V. Le, Q. (2014). *Sequence to Sequence Learning with Neural Networks*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/pdf/1409.3215.pdf</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[57] Sak, H., Senior, A., Rao, K. and Beaufays, F. (2015). Fast and Accurate Recurrent Neural Network Acoustic Models for Speech Recognition. *arXiv:1507.06947 [cs, stat]*. [online] Available at: https://arxiv.org/abs/1507.06947.

[58] Xia, J., Pan, S., Zhu, M., Cai, G., Yan, M., Su, Q., Yan, J. and Ning, G. (2019). A Long Short-Term Memory Ensemble Approach for Improving the Outcome Prediction in Intensive Care Unit. *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine*, pp.1–10.

[59] Cho, K., van Merrienboer, B., Gulcehre, C., Bahdanau, D., Bougares, F., Schwenk, H. and Bengio, Y. (2014). Learning Phrase Representations using RNN Encoder–Decoder for Statistical Machine Translation. *Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/pdf/1406.1078v3.pdf</u>.

[60] Gers, F.A. and Schmidhuber, J. (2000). Recurrent nets that time and count. *IEEE Xplore*, [online] 3. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/861302</u> [Accessed 2 Oct. 2021].

[61] Arras, L., Montavon, G., Müller, K.-R. and Samek, W. (2017). Explaining Recurrent Neural Network Predictions in Sentiment Analysis. *ACLWeb*, [online] pp.159–168. Available at: <u>https://aclanthology.org/W17-5221/</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[62] Ribeiro, M.T., Singh, S. and Guestrin, C. (2016). 'Why Should I Trust You?': Explaining the Predictions of Any Classifier. *arXiv.org*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1602.04938</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[63] Lundberg, S.M. and Lee, S.-I. (2017). A Unified Approach to Interpreting Model Predictions. *Neural Information Processing Systems*, [online] 30. Available at: <u>https://papers.nips.cc/paper/2017/hash/8a20a8621978632d76c43dfd28b67767-Abstract.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[64] Van der Westhuizen, J. and Lasenby, J. (2018). The unreasonable effectiveness of the forget gate. *arXiv:1804.04849* [*cs, stat*]. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1804.04849</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[65] Wang, S. and Jiang, J. (2016). Learning Natural Language Inference with LSTM. *arXiv:1512.08849 [cs]*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1512.08849</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[66] Marling, C. and Bunescu, R. (2020). *The OhioT1DM Dataset for Blood Glucose Level Prediction: Update 2020.* [online] *smarthealth.cs.ohio.edu.* Available at: <u>http://smarthealth.cs.ohio.edu/bglp/OhioT1DM-dataset-paper.pdf</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[67] Schram, M.T., Sep, S.J.S., van der Kallen, C.J., Dagnelie, P.C., Koster, A., Schaper, N., Henry, R.M.A. and Stehouwer, C.D.A. (2014). The Maastricht Study: an extensive phenotyping study on determinants of type 2 diabetes, its complications and its comorbidities. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 29(6), pp.439–451.

[68] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2015). *NHANES Questionnaires, Datasets, and Related Documentation*. [online] wwwn.cdc.gov. Available at: <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/continuousnhanes/default.aspx?BeginYear=2015</u> [Accessed 7 Feb. 2022]. [69] Shrider, E.A., Kollar, M., Chen, F. and Semega, J. (2021). *Income and Poverty in the United States: 2020.* [online] *www.census.gov.* United States Census Bureau. Available at: <u>https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2021/demo/p60-273.html</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[70] Mayo Clinic (2018). *Diabetic coma - Symptoms and causes*. [online] Mayo Clinic. Available at:

https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/diabetic-coma/symptoms-causes/syc-203714 75 [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[71] Gupta, A. (2020). *Feature Selection Techniques in Machine Learning*. [online] Analytics Vidhya. Available at:

https://www.analyticsvidhya.com/blog/2020/10/feature-selection-techniques-in-machine-learn ing [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[72] Buitinck, L., Louppe, G., Blondel, M., Pedregosa, F., Mueller, A., Grisel, O., Niculae, V., Prettenhofer, P., Gramfort, A., Grobler, J., Layton, R., VanderPlas, J., Joly, A., Holt, B. and Varoquaux, G. (2019). *sklearn.mixture.GaussianMixture — scikit-learn 0.21.2 documentation*. [online] Scikit-learn.org. Available at:

https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.mixture.GaussianMixture.html [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[73] Araújo, G.F., Macedo, H.T., Chella, M.T., Estombelo Montesco, C.A. and Medeiros, M.V.O. (2014). Parallel implementation of Expectation-Maximisation algorithm for the training of Gaussian Mixture Models. *ri.ufs.br*. [online] Available at: <u>https://ri.ufs.br/jspui/handle/riufs/1764</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[74] Naumova, V., Pereverzyev, S.V. and Sivananthan, S. (2012). A meta-learning approach to the regularized learning—Case study: Blood glucose prediction. *Neural Networks*, 33, pp.181–193.

[75] Baggenstoss, P.M. (2001). A modified Baum-Welch algorithm for hidden Markov models with multiple observation spaces. *IEEE Transactions on Speech and Audio Processing*, [online] 9(4), pp.411–416. Available at:

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?tp=&arnumber=917686 [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[76] Lou, H.-L. (1995). Implementing the Viterbi algorithm. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 12(5), pp.42–52.

[77] Ge, F., Moore, W. and Antolovich, M. (2015). Learning from Demonstration Using GMM, CHMM and DHMM: A Comparison. *researchoutput.csu.edu.au*, [online] 9457, pp.204–217. Available at:

https://researchoutput.csu.edu.au/en/publications/learning-from-demonstration-using-gmm-c hmm-and-dhmm-a-comparison [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[A7] Kingma, D.P. and Ba, J. (2014). Adam: A Method for Stochastic Optimization. *arXiv.org*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1412.6980</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[78] Klonoff, D.C., Lias, C., Vigersky, R., Clarke, W., Parkes, J.L., Sacks, D.B., Kirkman, M.S., Kovatchev, B., Aurand, L., Benson, C., Bernhardt, P., Blonde, L., Breton, M., Buckingham, B., Cariski, A., Colburn, S., Flacke, F., Harrison, B., Herman, C. and Hinzmann, R. (2014). The Surveillance Error Grid. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 8(4), pp.658–672.

[79] van Doorn, W.P.T.M., Foreman, Y.D., Schaper, N.C., Savelberg, H.H.C.M., Koster, A., van der Kallen, C.J.H., Wesselius, A., Schram, M.T., Henry, R.M.A., Dagnelie, P.C., de Galan, B.E., Bekers, O., Stehouwer, C.D.A., Meex, S.J.R. and Brouwers, M.C.G.J. (2021). Machine learning-based glucose prediction with use of continuous glucose and physical activity monitoring data: The Maastricht Study. PLoS ONE, [online] 16(6). Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8224858 [Accessed 22 Jan. 2022].

[80] GraZai, Simon, J. and D, H. (2020). *xai-tutorial-april-2020/Interpretability of TS, Simple Sinous.ipynb at master* · *grazai/xai-tutorial-april-2020*. [online] GitHub. Available at: <u>https://github.com/grazai/xai-tutorial-april-2020/blob/master/Interpretability%20of%20TS%2C</u> <u>%20Simple%20Sinous.ipynb</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[81] Mohan, V. (2004). Why are Indians more prone to diabetes? *The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India*, [online] 52, pp.468–474. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15645957</u> [Accessed 21 Apr. 2021].

[82] Sun, L., Jiang, X., Ren, H. and Guo, Y. (2020). Edge-Cloud Computing and Artificial Intelligence in Internet of Medical Things: Architecture, Technology and Application. *IEEE Access*, 8.

[83] Department of Health & Social Care (2021). *Deliverable 1: principles for the evaluation of artificial intelligence or machine learning-enabled medical devices to assure safety, effectiveness and ethicality*. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/g7-health-track-digital-health-final-reports/deliver able-1-principles-for-the-evaluation-of-artificial-intelligence-or-machine-learning-enabled-med ical-devices-to-assure-safety-effectiveness-an [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[84] Ji, Z., Lipton, Z.C. and Elkan, C. (2014). Differential Privacy and Machine Learning: a Survey and Review. *arXiv*. [online] Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1412.7584</u> [Accessed 2 May 2022].

[85] Li, X., Li, Y., Yang, H., Yang, L. and Liu, X.-Y. (2019). DP-LSTM: Differential Privacy-inspired LSTM for Stock Prediction Using Financial News. *ResearchGate*. [online] Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338138728\_DP-LSTM\_Differential\_Privacy-inspired \_LSTM\_for\_Stock\_Prediction\_Using\_Financial\_News [Accessed 2 May 2022].

# Appendices

### Appendix A: Project Brief

Artificial Intelligence has made large advances in preventive medicine and management of chronic conditions, such as Diabetes. The symptoms of this metabolic disease include elevated blood glucose levels and hyperglycaemic events, which over time can lead to irreversible damage to the heart, kidneys, blood vessels, eyes and nerves.

Type 1 Diabetes Patients must use external insulin, with effective management requiring optimal doses of insulin, through injection or infusion, multiple times per day. Current technologies have found success in minimising risk of long-term complications, however they can pose a significant burden on self-managing patients, reducing their quality of life.

Recent growth in digital disease management platforms and an increased use of diabetes-related data sensors, such as Continuous Glucose Monitoring (CGM), have resulted in rapid evolution towards Autonomous Diabetes Systems, which implement Machine Learning approaches to predict future glucose levels, detect hyperglycaemic events, assist with decision making and risk stratification for Type 1 Diabetes patients.

The implementation of leading Neural Network based Machine Learning models could advance prediction accuracy and provide more personalised predictions. This leads to the opportunity to explain model predictions and justify conclusions reached, crucial for medical use.

Outlined below is my plan of approach:

- 1. Identify suitable Dataset for CGM use on patients with Type 1 Diabetes or combination thereof.
- 2. Extract and manipulate to generate adequate training and validation datasets.
- 3. Investigate using a variety of machine learning models
- 4. Evaluation and comparison of each model between each other as well as with the current leading predictive solutions for Autonomous Diabetes Systems.

Definition of success for the project:

- Creation of an accurate Neural Network Model to forecast glucose levels for patients with Type 1 Diabetes.
- Explain and justify the model's decision making process behind the predictions made.



# Appendix B: Planned Gantt Chart Brief



### Appendix C: Actual Event Gantt Chart